





2023 년 2 월 석사학위 논문

Inhibitory efficacy of *Castanopsis sieboldii* on hepatitis via kupffer cell regulation

조선대학교 대학원

약 학 과

김 재 민



Inhibitory efficacy of *Castanopsis sieboldii* on hepatitis via kupffer cell regulation

Kupffer cell 조절을 통한 구실잣밤의 간염억제 효능 연구

2023년 2월 24일

조선대학교 대학원

약 학 과

김 재 민



Inhibitory efficacy of *Castanopsis sieboldii* on hepatitis via kupffer cell regulation

지도교수 기 성 환

이 논문을 약학 석사학위신청 논문으로 제출함

2022 년 10 월

조선대학교 대학원

약 학 과

김 재 민



김재민의 석사학위논문을 인준함

위원장 조선대학교	교수 최홍석	인
-----------	--------	---

- 위 원 조선대학교 교수 이 금 화 인
- 위 원 조선대학교 교수 기성환 인

2022 년 12 월

조선대학교 대학원



CONTENTS

CON	ITENTSi
LIST	Г OF FIGURESiii
ABB	REVIATIONSiv
ABS	TRACT (Korean) v
I.	INTRODUCTION1
II.	MATERIALS AND METHODS4
1.	Materials4
2.	Preparation of CSL3
3.	Cell culture
4.	WST-1 cell viability assay
5.	Nitrite oxide (NO) production assay
6.	Immunoblot Analysis
7.	RNA Isolation and RT-PCR Analysis



8.	Reporter Gene Assay	7
9.	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	7
10.	Animals and Treatment	8
11.	Blood chemistry	8
12.	Histopathological examination	8
13.	Statistical analysis	9

III. RESULTS......11

1.	Suppression of LPS-induced iNOS expression and inflammatory cytokines
	by CSL311
2.	Suppression of LPS-induced NF- κ B, AP-1 and MAPK activation by CSL3
	on ImKCs19
3.	Suppression of LPS/ATP-stimulated pyroptosis by CSL3 on ImKCs22
4.	Improvement effect of CSL3 on CCl4-induced acute hepatitis25
5.	Suppression of inflammasome and pyroptosis marker expression by CSL3
	in in CCl ₄ -treated mice

IV.	DISCUSSION	
V.	REFERENCES	



LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1. Cytotoxicity of CSL3 in macrophage (ImKCs and Raw264.7 cells)
- Figure 2. Suppression of iNOS expression and NO production by CSL3 in LPS-activated macrophage
- Figure 3. Suppression of inflammatory gene expression through CSL3 in LPS-activated ImKC
- Figure 4. Suppression of NF-κB and MAPK activation by CSL3 in LPSactivated ImKC
- Figure 5. Inhibition of pyroptosis by CSL3 on LPS/ATP-stimulated ImKC
- Figure 6. Suppression of CCl₄-induced acute liver injury through CSL3
- Figure 7. Inhibition of inflammatory gene expression through CSL3 in CCl4-injected mice
- Figure 8. Suppression of CCl₄-induced inflammasome and pyroptosis by CSL3



ABBREVIATIONS

LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
ImKC	Immortalized murine kupffer cell
NO	Nitric Oxide
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
NLRP3	NLR family pyrin domain containing 3
GSDMD	Gasdermin-D
CCl ₄	Carbon tetrachloride
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase



국문초록

Kupffer cell 조절을 통한

구실잣밤의 간염억제 효능 연구

김 재 민

지도교수:기성환

약학과

조선대학교 대학원

간은 인체에서 체내 대사 및 해독작용을 담당하는 가장 큰 기관으로 70%의 간 실질세포와 30%의 쿠퍼세포, 간성상세포를 포함하는 비 실질세포로 이루어져 있다. 과도한 알코올이나 고지방식이 섭취와 같은 요인들에 의해 장벽의 기능이 약 화되면 장벽의 투과성이 증가하고 장내 내독소가 간으로 유입 될 수 있다. 이는 간 에서 염증반응을 유도하여 간염증, 섬유증 및 간암과 같은 간질환을 유발할 수 있 다. 쿠퍼세포는 간 내 상주하는 대식세포로써, 활성화되어 자극에 다라 전염증성 형태인 M1 표현형 또는 항염증성 형태인 M2 표현형으로 분극화 되며 간 내 면역 및 수복반응을 담당한다. 현재까지 보고 된 연구결과에 따르면 M1 포현형으로 분 극화한 쿠퍼세포에서 분비된 사이토카인이 간성상세포의 활성화에 영향을 주어 간



섬유화 및 간염의 발병에 영향을 주는 것으로 알려져 있다. 따라서 쿠퍼세포의 분 극화 제어 약물 발굴과 그 기전에 대한 이해가 간질환의 발병 및 진행에 중요하다. 최근 한반도 남부, 특히 제주 등지에 분포하는 난대수종 구실잣밤나무 열매 추 출물의 항산화 및 세포사멸 억제 효능에 대한 연구결과가 보고 된 바 있다. 하지만 염증에 효과가 있다고 알려진 EGCG(epigallocatechin gallate)와 GA(gallic acid) 가 높은 함량을 이루고 있지만 염증을 비롯한 면역반응 조절에 대한 구실잣밤나무 잎추출물의 효능연구는 거의 이루어지지 않고 있는 실정이다. 따라서 본 연구에서 는 LPS(지질다당체, 내독소)를 이용한 염증성 손상 유도 시 간 내 대식세포인 쿠 퍼세포의 분극화에 대한 구실잣밤나무 잎추출물의 효능 및 관련 보호기전 연구를 진행하고자 한다.



I. INTRODUCTION

The largest solid organ in the human body is the liver which is responsible for metabolism and detoxification. The liver mass is composed of 80% of parenchyma cells (hepatocytes) and 20% of non-parenchymal cells (lymphocytes, kupffer cells, hepatic stellate cells and endothelial cells) [1]. Kupffer cells, the liver-resident macrophage, play a central role in the pathogenesis of a diversity of liver diseases including alcoholic liver disease, steatohepatitis, intrahepatic cholestasis, viral hepatitis and liver fibrosis [2]. Activated Kupffer cells, in liver injury, are a major source of inflammatory mediators including nitric oxide, cytokines, chemokines, superoxide, eicosanoids [3], resulting in an excessive inflammatory response and hepatitis.

Hepatitis can be split into acute and chronic based on the duration of the inflammation of the liver. The natural recovery of acute hepatitis is sometimes possible [4], however, treatment is limited as antiviral agents or corticosteroids. The treatment of choice for patients with severe alcoholic hepatitis (AH), autoimmune hepatitis is use of corticosteroids. However, the use of corticosteroids acute hepatitis is still controversial until now. In contrast, chronic hepatitis can cause chronic liver diseases including liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, liver cancer leading to significant morbidity and mortality [5]. Current treatments for end stage of liver diseases such as liver failure or decompensated cirrhosis are still limited, and liver transplantation remnants the only available approach to improve survival. Thus,



research on identification of new drug targets and candidate drugs that can control acute hepatitis is very important.

Kupffer cells are responsible for immune and repair reactions in the liver and polarized into M1 phenotype (a pro-inflammatory form) or M2 phenotype (an antiinflammatory form) [6, 7]. Polarization to the M1 phenotype, induced by LPS, TNF- α and IFN- γ and express pro-inflammatory cytokines, are involved in the pathogenesis of liver inflammation. When kupffer cells stimulated by LPS and/or IFN- γ , also formed the NLRP3 inflammasome and GSDMD is cleaved, resulting in pyroptosis. Pyroptosis, a kind of lytic programmed cell death, is stimulated by proinflammatory signals and connected with inflammation [8, 9]. Accumulation evidence show that pyroptosis in kupffer cells also contributes to sterile inflammatory liver diseases via release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like as IL18- or IL-1 β [10]. However, there is no candidates for the treatment or prevention of acute hepatitis targeting pyroptosis in Kupffer cells.

Castanopsis sieboldii, a species of the warm-temperature tree species, is native to the southern part of the Korean Peninsula and Jeju Island. The warm-temperature tree species, distributed in subtropical regions, is gradually expanding on the Korean Peninsula due to global warming and climate change. The fruits of the *Castanopsis sieboldii* have been used for food since ancient times, and the its branches have recently been used as wood. In addition, it is known that the leaf extract of the *Castanopsis sieboldii* has high antioxidant and antibacterial activity



[11]. Recently, we identified that extract of *Castanopsis sieboldii* leaf (CSL) has cytoprotective and antioxidant efficacy in skin keratinocytes against UV-mediated phototoxicity [not published]. However, the role of the CSL extract in anti-inflammatory efficacy against pyroptosis-mediated hepatitis has not scrutinized.

Therefore, the aim of current study is examined whether CSL3 inhibited inflammatory response and pyroptosis by LPS or LPS/ATP-induced activated macrophages. Furthermore, we investigated *in vivo* effect CSL3 in acute hepatitis mice model.



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Materials

Antibodies against I κ B α , iNOS, β -tubulin, p65 and NLRP3 were acquired by Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA). Phospho-p38, p38, phospho-ERK1/2, ERK1/2, phospho-JNK1/2, JNK1/2, phospho-I κ B α , Lamin A/C, and cleaved-caspase-1 antibodies were acquired from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA). Interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β) antibody was acquired from R & D system (Minneapolis, Minnesota). Gasdermin-D (GSDMDC1) antibody was acquired from NOVUS Biologicals (Littleton, CO). Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit, anti-goat, anti-mouse antibodies were acquired from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA). ATP (Adenosine 5'-triphosphate), LPS (Escherichia coli 055:B5), β -actin antibody and sodium nitrite were acquired from Sigma Chemicals (St. Louis, MO).

2. Preparation of 70% ethanol extracts of *Castanopsis sieboldii* leaf (CSL3)

The CSL3 used in this study were collected around April 2020, supplied from Wando Arboretum (Wando-gun, Jeollanam-do, Korea), washed, dried with hot air, stored, and ground. 1.5 kg of dried and ground CSL3 were added to 70% EtOH (v/v) 15.0 L and immersed at room temperature for 2 weeks to extract them. The immersed sample was filtered using a vacuum filtration device and Whatman No. 1, and then the residue separated by this method was repeatedly carried out once under the same conditions. The filtrate obtained by filtration was concentrated in a rotary



vacuum evaporator at 37-40°C and then freeze-dried and used.

3. Cell Culture

RAW 264.7 cells, a murine macrophage cell line was purchased from ATCC (American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD, USA). Cells were preserved in DMEM (high glucose) added with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 50 units/mL penicillin/streptomycin at 37 °C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

4. WST-1 cell viability assay

The cell viability in ImKCs and RAW264.7 cells were estimated using a EZ-Cytox kit (DoGenBio Co., LTD, Seoul, Korea). Cells were plated in 12 well plates incubated with CSL3 alone for 12 h. Cells were then changed medium with 5% WST-1 reagent for 0.5 h. Then, transferred 100 µl the cell medium to microplate. Absorbance at 450 nm (600 nm was used as reference wavelength) was analyzed on a microplate reader (Spectra MAX, Molecular Device).

5. Nitrite oxide (NO) production assay

NO production was evaluated by Griess reaction (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Cells were pre-treated with CSL3 for 1 h, and then incubated with LPS for 15 h. Transferred 100 μ l the cell medium to microplate then, added griess reaction 100 μ l (0.04g/ml dissolved in DW) and reacted at room temperature for 0.5 h. Absorbance



at 540 nm was analyzed on a microplate reader (Spectra MAX, Molecular Device).

6. Immunoblot Analysis

Subcellular fractionation and protein extraction, SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and immunoblot analysis were performed as previously published method. Protein extracts were separated via 7.5% and 12% gel by electrophoresis, and then electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. After the membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk for 0.5 h, they were incubated with primary antibody at 4°C overnight with 20rpm shook and then incubated with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody. Immunoreactive protein was visualized by ECL chemiluminescence detection kit. β -actin was used as control and β -tubulin or lamin A/C used as verified for integrity of subcellular fractionation.

7. RNA Isolation and RT-PCR Analysis

Total RNA was separated by TRIzol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The cDNA acquired was escalated with a cDNA synthesis kit (Bioneer, Daejeon, Korea) using a thermal cycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). To acquire cDNA, total RNA (2 µg) was reverse-transcribed by an oligo (dT)₁₈ primer. Primers were synthesized by Bioneer. The following primer sequences were used: mouse iNOS sense:5'-CCTCCTCCACCCTACCAAGT-3',



antisense:5'-CACCCAAAGTGCTTCAGTCA-3; TNF-α mouse sense:5'-AAGCCTGTAGCCCACGTCGTA-3', antisense:5'-AGGTACAACCCATCGGCTGG-3'; mouse IL-6 sense:5'-TCCATCCAGTTGCCTTCTTG-3', antisense:5'-TTCCACGATTTCCCAGAGAAC-3; mouse IL-1 β sense: antisense:5'-AGAAGGTGCTCATGTCCTCA-3; GAPDH mouse sense:5'-TGCCCCCATGTTTGTGATG-3' and antisense:5'-TGTGGTCATGAGCCCTTCC-3'. GAPDH was used as a control for RT-PCR.

8. Reporter Gene Assay

To analyze the activities of the *iNOS* promoter constructs, luciferase reporter assays were established in cells stably transfected with the *iNOS* gene promoter, pGL-miNOS-1588, which contains the murine *iNOS* promoter from -1588 to +165 bp as previously described [12]. For the luciferase assay, cells were replated in 12-well plates overnight, and then treated with 0.1 µg/ml LPS in the presence or absence of CSL3 for 6h. After discarding medium, passive lysis buffer (Promega, Madison, WI) was immediately added to the cells. Luciferase assay reagent II (Promega) was added in lysates, and the luciferase activities were analyzed using a luminometer (Promega). The relative iNOS promoter driven-luciferase activity was calculated via normalizing luciferase activity to the protein concentration.

9. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)



IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α were quantified using ELISA kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α contents in cell supernatant or serum were analyzed via ELISA, using anti-mouse IL-1 β , TNF- α or IL-6 antibodies and biotinylated secondary antibodies according to manufacturer's recommendations.

10. Animals and Treatment

Male ICR mice (six weeks old) were purchased from Oriental Bio (Sung-nam, Korea) and acclimated for 1 wk. The mice (n = 8/group) were housed at $20 \pm 2 \circ C$ under pathogenic-free air filtered at a 12-hour light/dark cycle and a relative humidity of $50 \pm 5\%$, and food (Purina, Korea) and water were available. Mice (N=8/group) were treated with CSL3 (250 or 500 mg/kg CSL3) dissolved in 40% PEG for 5 day with oral administration. After that, to induce hepatitis, CCl₄ (1 mL/kg) dissolved in olive oil (10%) was intraperitoneally injected into the mice for 24 h. Mice were sacrificed after 24 h, and the blood and livers were harvested.

11. Blood chemistry

Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) were analyzed by commercial kits (Asan Pharmaceutical, Seoul, Korea).

12. Histopathological examination



Liver tissue samples were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin wax and cut into 3 µm thick sections, which were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for routine examination. To estimate the histopathological changes, the stained tissue samples were identified under a light microscope. An arbitrary scope was given to each microscopic field viewed at magnifications of ×40-200. At least 5 fields were scored per liver section to acquire the mean value. The scoring system for CCl₄ chronic changes of hepatic inflammation, balloon degeneration and necrosis were evaluated according to a score proposed by previous described. The scores of hepatic inflammation are as follows: Absent: Score 0: Small amount of cells present at the junction of the necrotic zone: Score 1; Normal amount of cells present: Score 2; Predominantly neutrophils present: Score 3: Predominantly mononucleic cells present: Score 4 [13]. Necrosis extent was graded as: None: Score 0; Single cell necrosis: Score 1; -30%: Score 2; -60%: Score 3; >60%: Score 4 [14]. The scores of hepatocyte ballooning are as follows: None: Score 0; Few, in apparent: Score 1; Easily noted, many: Score 2 [15].

13. Statistical analysis

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to evaluate statistical consequence of differences among treatment groups. For each statistically notable effect of treatment, the Newman-Keuls test was used for comparisons between



multiple group means. The data were expressed as means \pm S.E.



III. RESULTS

1. Suppression of LPS-induced iNOS expression and inflammatory cytokines by CSL3

For this study, we prepared were using CSL3. First of all, cytotoxicity of CSL3 in macrophage (ImKCs and Raw264.7 cells) was measured by MTT, and as a result, there was no cytotoxicity up to 100 μ g/mL in both cells (Fig 1). The expression of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is one of the direct consequences of an inflammatory process [16]. Therefore, we investigate whether CSL3 can reduce inflammation effect, we determined level of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) expression in ImKCs and RAW264.7 cells. LPS-stimulated iNOS protein level was reduced by CSL3 treatment in a dose-dependent manner (Fig 2 and B). Then, we investigated whether inhibitory effect of CSL3 on iNOS transcriptional regulation in macrophages. Likewise, CSL3 inhibited LPS-induced mRNA level of iNOS in ImKCs and RAW264.7 cells (Fig 2C and D). Also, CSL3 treatment suppressed the increase of iNOS promoter activity by LPS in stably transfected RAW264.7 cells (Fig 2E). Nitric oxide (NO) produced by iNOS has been involved in both DNA damage induction and aberrant cell signalling in various tissue and cell backgrounds [17]. We thus evaluated whether CSL3 could inhibit NO production by LPS in ImKCs. The increased NO production due to LPS was reduced by CSL3 treatment in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig 2F).

Next, we established about effect of CSL3 on pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α



and IL-6). We measured the mRNA expression of inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-6) by RT-PCR analysis and the release of cytokines into the media by ELISA. Treatment with LPS elevated the mRNA expression inflammatory cytokines and release of cytokines into the media, however pretreatment of CSL3 notably abolished them (Fig 3). In conclusion, our data showed that CSL3 alleviates LPS-induced NO production by reducing iNOS expression and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines.





B)



Raw264.7



Figure 1. Cytotoxicity of CSL3 in macrophage (ImKCs and Raw264.7 cells)

(A and B) Effect of CSL3 (10-100 μ g/mL, 24 h) on cytotoxicity was estimated using MTT assays in ImKCs and Raw264.7 cells. Data represent the mean \pm S.E. of three replicates; **P<0.01, significant versus vehicle-treated control







Figure 2. Suppression of iNOS expression and NO production by CSL3 in LPS-activated macrophage

(A and B) The expression level of iNOS protein in macrophages. ImKC (A) or Raw264.7 cell (B) were pre-treated with CSL for 0.5 h before LPS for 12 h. L iNOS protein expression was visualized by immunoblotting and results were verified by repeated experiments. (C, D) The inhibition effect of CSL3 on iNOS transcriptional regulation by LPS in macrophages. ImKC (C) or Raw264.7 cell (D) were pre-treated with CSL3 1 h and treated with LPS. After 3 h, expression level of iNOS was evaluated by PCR analysis and results were confirmed by repeated experiments. (E) iNOS luciferase assays were performed in cells stably transfected with pGL-miNOS-1588, which contains murine iNOS promoter from -1588 to +165 bp and exposed to LPS and/or CSL3 in RAW264.7 cells for 12 h. (F) NO production was measured by Griess reaction. ImKCs were pretreated with CSL3 for 1 h, and then incubated with LPS for 15 h. (n = 3, significant when comparedwith controls, p<0.05, compared with the LPS treatment group, ## p<0.01, # p < 0.05). (n = 3, significant when compared with controls, **p < 0.01, compared with the LPS treatment group, ## p < 0.01).









Figure 3. Suppression of inflammatory gene expression through CSL3 in LPSactivated ImKC

ImKC were pretreated with CSL3 for 1 h and treated with LPS for 3 h. (A) mRNA levels of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) were evaluated by RT-PCR using GAPDH as control and results were verified by repeated experiments. (B) IL-6 and TNF- α release into cell supernatant was identified by ELISA analysis (n = 3, significant when compared with controls, **p<0.01, *p<0.05, compared with the LPS treatment group, ## p<0.01, # p<0.05).



2. Suppression of LPS-induced NF-κB, AP-1 and MAPK activation by CSL3 on ImKCs

NF-κB and AP-1 can be activated in cells treated with inflammatory stimuli and regulate the transcriptional activation of inflammatory gene expression [18, 19], and nuclear translocation of NF-κB is preceded by phosphorylation and subsequent degradation of IκBα [20]. LPS increases phosphorylation and degradation of IκBα, and this step was completely blocked by pretreatment with CSL3 (Fig 4A and B). Furthermore, treatment of CSL3 inhibited the increase p65 protein levels by LPS in the nuclear (Fig 4C). The inducible transcriptional complex AP-1 (composed of c-Fos and c-Jun proteins) is crucial for cell adaptation to many environmental changes [21]. To determine the inhibitory effect of CSL3 on LPS-induced AP-1 activation, we performed immunoblot analysis. LPS increased the phosphorylation of c-Jun and c-Fos in the lysate cells but not in those of CSL3 treated cells (Fig 4D).

MAPKs including ERK, p38 and JNK initiates the downstream induction of transcription factors, like NF- κ B and AP-1 of the pro-inflammatory genes [22]. Therefore, we estimated the effect of CSL3 on the LPS-induced activation of MAPKs. Phosphorylation of MAPKs (ERK, p38 and JNK) were increased by LPS alone, whereas were decreased in cells treated with CSL3 (Fig 4E). These results indicate that anti-proinflammatory effect of RSL3 might be involved suppression of NF- κ B, AP-1 and MAPK activation.







B)



C)



D)



E)





Figure 4. Suppression of NF-κB and MAPK activation by CSL3 in LPSactivated ImKC

(A and B) Immunoblotting for total (A) or phosphorylated $I\kappa B\alpha$ (B). The cells were pretreated with CSL3 for 1 h before LPS stimulation for 15 min. Total or phosphorylated I κ B α was immunoblotted in the cell lysate. Results were verified by repeated experiments. (C) The expression level of p65 protein in ImKCs nuclear with nuclear fraction. Using Lamin A/C as control for nuclear fraction and β -tubulin as control for cytosolic fraction. ImKCs were pretreated CSL3 for 1 h and then incubated with LPS for 30 min. Results were verified by repeated experiments. (D) The expression of phosphorylated c-Fos and c-Jun protein in ImKCs. The cells were pretreated with CSL3 for 1 h before LPS stimulation for 2h. c-Fos and c-Jun phosphorylation were immunoblotted in the cell lysate. Results were validated by repeated experiments. (E) The expression level of phosphorylation MAPK phosphorylation in ImKCs. Cells were treated LPS and/or CSL3 in RAW264.7 cells for 1 h. The cell lysates were immunoblotted and results were validated by repeated experiments.



3. Suppression of LPS/ATP-stimulated pyroptosis by CSL3 on ImKCs

Pyroptosis, a programmed cell death caused by inflammation, has some similarities to apoptosis, like as DNA damage and chromatin condensation [23]. Whereas, the unique characteristics of pyroptosis are different from apoptosis [24]. Pyroptosis is mediated by inflammasome assembly, which is accompanied via NLRP3 activation, cleavage of caspase-1 and GSDMD, and IL-1 β release [25]. Therefore, we investigated whether CSL3 inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome activation and pyroptosis by LPS/ATP in ImKCs. As result, LPS/ATP treatment increases IL-1 β maturation, cleavage of caspase-1 and GSDMD, and NLRP3 expression, whereas CRSL3 treatment decreased them (Fig 5A). Also, CSL3 suppressed level of IL-1 β mRNA expression, and decreased IL-1 β release in ImKC culture supernatant (Fig 5B and C).





B)





-

30

LPS+ATP

0.5 -0 CSL3 (µg/mL) - ##

100





Figure 5. Inhibition of pyroptosis by CSL3 on LPS/ATP-stimulated ImKC

(A) The protein expression level of inflammasome and pyroptosis markers were evaluated by immunoblotting. ImKC. pretreated with CSL3 incubate with LPS for 6 h and then treatment of ATP for 0.5 h. Results were validated by repeated experiments. (B) mRNA levels of inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β was evaluated by RT-PCR using GAPDH as control. Cells pretreated with CSL3 incubate with LPS for 3 h and then treatment of ATP for 0.5 h. Results were validated by repeated experiments. (C) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). ELISA measured by ImKCs supernatant treated LPS/ATP and/or CSL3 in RAW264.7 for 3h. (n = 3, significant when compared with controls, **p<0.01, compared with the LPS treatment group, ## p<0.01).



4. Improvement effect of CSL3 on CCl4-induced acute hepatitis

The carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄)-induced acute hepatitis is the most popular in vivo model to study intrinsic drug-induced liver injury [26, 27]. Therefore, we used CCl₄-induced acute liver injury model for investigating liver protection effect of CSL3. CSL3 was treated 5 times in mice before sacrificed (Fig 6A, upper). The CCl₄ alone treatment group had injury characteristics in liver, however CCl₄+CSL3 group showed a hepato-protective effect of CSL3 (Fig 6A, down). Then, the activity of serum ALT and AST was reduced in the CCl₄+CSL3 group compared to the CCl₄ alone group (Fig 6B). Similarly, H&E staining of liver tissue showed that liver injury caused by CCl₄ chiefly caused by lesions around the central vein, but the CCl₄+CSL3 group showed liver protection effects about liver injury (Fig 6C). Next, the expression of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) in mouse serum was investigated using an ELISA kit. As a result, it was validated that IL-6 and TNF- α reduced in the CSL3-treated group (Fig. 7A and B). And CSL3 treatment significantly decreased protein level of iNOS (Fig 7C).







Figure 6. Suppression of CCl₄-induced acute liver injury through CSL3

(A) Male ICR mice were caused liver injury by intraperitoneal injection of CCl₄. CSL3 was orally administered to mice at a dose of 250 or 500 mg/kg/day for 5 consecutive days, followed by subcutaneous injection of CCl₄ (1ml/kg, dissolved in olive oil [10%]) for 24 h to induce acute liver injury. (B) The activities of serum ALT and AST were analyzed by using an automated blood chemistry analyzer All values were expressed as mean \pm SE of 5 mice serum (notable as compared with vehicle control, **p<0.01; notable as compared with CCl₄ alone, ##p < 0.01, #p < 0.05). (C) Mice liver H & E staining by intraperitoneal injection of CCl₄. Scale bars indicate 120 µm.











Figure 7. Inhibition of inflammatory gene expression through CSL3 in CCl₄injected mice

(A, B) ELISA. IL-6 and TNF- α release into serum was established by using ELISA. (C) The effect of CSL3 on CCl₄-induced iNOS protein expression All values were expressed as mean \pm SE of 3 mice (notable as compared with vehicle control, **p<0.01; notable as compared with CCl₄ alone, ##p < 0.01, #p < 0.05).



5. Suppression of inflammasome and pyroptosis marker expression by CSL3 in in CCl₄-treated mice

Carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄)-induced acute liver injury probably via suppressing the anti-oxidant pathway and inducing NLRP3 inflammasome activation [28, 29]. Therefore, we verified that CCl₄-induced inflammasome and pyroptosis protein expression (like as NLRP3, cleaved caspase-1 and GSDMD) was suppressed by CSL3 treatment (Fig 8A). It was confirmed that CCl₄-induced release of IL-1 β in mouse serum was decreased by CSL3 treatment (Fig 8B).



A)







Figure 8. Suppression of CCl₄-induced inflammasome and pyroptosis by CSL3

(A) The protein expression level of inflammasome and pyroptosis markers were evaluated by immunoblotting using GAPDH as control in liver tissue (n=3). (B) ELISA. IL-1 β release into serum was established by using ELISA kit. All values were expressed as mean ± SE of 3 mice (notable as compared with vehicle control, **p<0.01; notable as compared with CCl₄ alone, ##p < 0.01, #p < 0.05).



DISCUSSION

There is a need for study about resource conversion and food materialization of the warm-temperature tree species because of climate change. The fruits of the *Castanopsis sieboldii*, a kind of warm-temperature tree species, have been used for food for a long time, and recently its branches have been recognized for their value as wood. In addition, it is known that the leaf extract of the *Castanopsis sieboldii* (extracted with ethanol and then solvent fractionated with ethyl acetate) has high antioxidant and antibacterial activity [11]. Albeit, the pharmacological efficacy of leaves of *Castanopsis sieboldii* is still unveiled. Therefore, in this study, we verified that CSL3 has protective effect by suppressing inflammatory response and inflammasome in *in vitro* and *in vivo* model of acute hepatitis.

Activation of TLR4 (Toll-like receptor 4, CD284) by LPS cause phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B- α [30]. Degradation of I κ B- α leads to activate NF- κ B causing translocation into the nucleus of p65 (a subunit of NF- κ B transcription complex) to produce NO and pro-inflammatory cytokine including TNF- α , interleukin (IL)-1 α/β , IL-6, IL-12, IL-18 [31].

We first established whether CSL3 has anti-inflammatory efficacy in LPSactivated macrophage (ImKC: immortalized murine kupffer cell and Raw264.7 cell: monocyte/macrophage-like cells, originating from Abelson leukemia virustransformed cell line derived from mice). CSL3 significantly inhibited iNOS



expression and NO production in both ImKC and Raw264.7 cells. CLS3 treatment antagonized increased mRNA expression of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) by LPS alone (Fig 2 and 3).

In addition, we verified which transcription factors including NF- κ B and AP-1, crucial transcription factors for inflammatory gene expression) were affected the inhibition of inflammatory gene expression by CSL3. As a result, CSL3 suppressed the activation of NF- κ B and AP-1 which were mediated via inhibition of phosphorylation of MAPKs (ERK, JNK, and p38) (Fig 4).

Then, we examined whether CSL3 inhibited LPS+ATP-induced inflammasome and pyroptosis in ImKC. LPS activation of macrophages can cause an increase in oxygen absorption, leading to a range of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which are the key factors that drive oxidative stress-stimulated inflammation in immune cells [32]. In the extracellular environment, ATP is markedly released in response to tissue damage and cellular stress [33]. ATP, generally secreted from dying and stressed cells, is used as a DAMP to activate NLRP3 inflammation [34, 35]. Canonical pyroptotic cell death is mediated by NLRP3 inflammasome assembly, which is accompanied by GSDMD cleavage and IL-1 β and IL-18 release [36]. The NLRP3 inflammasome triggers caspase-1 activation, it induces cleavage of GSDMD, and N-terminal domain can oligomerize to form pores in the cell membrane, causing cell membrane rupture [37]. Based on these facts [38], we



treated LPS+ATP for inducing inflammasome and pyroptosis in Kupffer cells. As a result of the experiment, we confirmed that CSL3 pretreatment inhibited expression of NLRP3, inflammasome sensor, and blocked cleavage of caspase-1 and GSDMD. CSL3 also decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokine like as IL-1β related to inflammasome and pyroptosis (Fig 5).

Finally, we investigate that CSL3 has the liver protection efficacy against CCl₄induced hepatitis *in vivo*. CCl₄ is widely used as animal model that induces acute hepatitis and even liver fibrosis [39, 40]. Recently, it was reported that inflammasomes are induced in the CCl₄-induced mice model [26, 29]. CSL3 was orally administered for 5 days, followed by CCl₄ via intraperitoneal, and blood and liver tissues were obtained by sacrifice after 24 hours. The intensified levels of ALT and AST by CCl₄ were decreased by CSL3, and H&E staining showed that liver damage was protected by CSL3(Fig 6). Moreover, CSL3 treatment reduced production of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6 and TNF- α) in serum and protein expression of iNOS in the liver tissue (Fig 7). Then, we confirmed that CSL3 inhibited expression of proteins related to inflammasome and pyroptosis such as NLRP3, GSDMD, and caspase-1 and significantly reduced production of IL-1 β in serum (Fig 8).

In conclusion, our data provide that CSL3 has hepatoprotective effect against CCl₄ -induced acute liver injury via suppression of inflammation and pyroptosis. Based



on these results, we propose the potential of CSL3 as a therapeutic drug candidate for acute hepatitis.



V. REFERENCES

- M. Werner, Driftmann S., Kleinehr K., Kaiser G.M., Mathé Z., Treck mann J.W., Paul A., Skibbe K., Timm J., Canbay A., Gerken G., Sch laak J.F., and Broering R. (2015) All-in-One: Advanced Preparation of Human Parenchymal and Non-Parenchymal Liver Cells. *PLoS One.* 1 0: e0138655.
- G. Kolios, Valatas V., and Kouroumalis E. (2006) Role of Kupffer Ce lls in the Pathogenesis of Liver Disease. World J Gastroenterol. 12: 7 413-7420.
- 3. W. Li, Chang N., and Li L. (2022) Heterogeneity and Function of K upffer Cells in Liver Injury. *Front Immunol.* 13: 940867.
- G. Adams, Kuntz S., Rabalais G., Bratcher D., Tamburro C.H., and K otwal G.J. (1997) Natural Recovery from Acute Hepatitis C Virus Inf ection by Agammaglobulinemic Twin Children. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 1 6: 533-534.
- H.K. Lim, Jeffrey G.P., Ramm G.A., and Soekmadji C. (2020) Pathog enesis of Viral Hepatitis-Induced Chronic Liver Disease: Role of Extr acellular Vesicles. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* 10: 587628.
- 6. J. Wan, Benkdane M., Teixeira-Clerc F., Bonnafous S., Louvet A., La fdil F., Pecker F., Tran A., Gual P., Mallat A., Lotersztajn S., and Pa



voine C. (2014) M2 Kupffer Cells Promote M1 Kupffer Cell Apoptos is: A Protective Mechanism against Alcoholic and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Hepatology*. 59: 130-142.

- C. Wang, Ma C., Gong L., Guo Y., Fu K., Zhang Y., Zhou H., and Li Y. (2021) Macrophage Polarization and Its Role in Liver Disease. *Front Immunol.* 12: 803037.
- C. De Miguel, Pelegrín P., Baroja-Mazo A., and Cuevas S. (2021) E merging Role of the Inflammasome and Pyroptosis in Hypertension. I nt J Mol Sci. 22.
- C. Wang, Yang T., Xiao J., Xu C., Alippe Y., Sun K., Kanneganti T. D., Monahan J.B., Abu-Amer Y., Lieberman J., and Mbalaviele G. (2 021) Nlrp3 Inflammasome Activation Triggers Gasdermin D-Independe nt Inflammation. *Sci Immunol.* 6: eabj3859.
- J. Wu, Lin S., Wan B., Velani B., and Zhu Y. (2019) Pyroptosis in Liver Disease: New Insights into Disease Mechanisms. *Aging Dis.* 10: 1094-1108.
- M.-H.C. Nain Kim, Seung Hwa Yang , Deuk-sil Oh, Hyun-Jae Shin.
 (2022) Evaluation of Bioactivity of Castanopsis Cuspidata Var. Siebold ii Leaves Extract and Isolation of Polyphenolic Compounds. *Korean S* ociety for Biotechnology and Bioengineering Journal. 37: 64-70.
- 12. Y.W. Kim, Zhao R.J., Park S.J., Lee J.R., Cho I.J., Yang C.H., Kim



S.G., and Kim S.C. (2008) Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Liquiritigenin as a Consequence of the Inhibition of Nf-Kappab-Dependent Inos an d Proinflammatory Cytokines Production. *Br J Pharmacol.* 154: 165-1 73.

- J.P. Li, Gao Y., Chu S.F., Zhang Z., Xia C.Y., Mou Z., Song X.Y., He W.B., Guo X.F., and Chen N.H. (2014) Nrf2 Pathway Activation Contributes to Anti-Fibrosis Effects of Ginsenoside Rg1 in a Rat Mod el of Alcohol- and Ccl4-Induced Hepatic Fibrosis. *Acta Pharmacol Si* n. 35: 1031-1044.
- M. Behrends, Martinez-Palli G., Niemann C.U., Cohen S., Ramachand ran R., and Hirose R. (2010) Acute Hyperglycemia Worsens Hepatic I schemia/Reperfusion Injury in Rats. J Gastrointest Surg. 14: 528-535.
- 15. H. Cui, Li Y., Cao M., Liao J., Liu X., Miao J., Fu H., Song R., W en W., Zhang Z., and Wang H. (2020) Untargeted Metabolomic Anal ysis of the Effects and Mechanism of Nuciferine Treatment on Rats with Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Front Pharmacol.* 11: 858.
- R. Zamora, Vodovotz Y., and Billiar T.R. (2000) Inducible Nitric Oxi de Synthase and Inflammatory Diseases. *Mol Med.* 6: 347-373.
- 17. M. Jaiswal, LaRusso N.F., Burgart L.J., and Gores G.J. (2000) Inflam matory Cytokines Induce DNA Damage and Inhibit DNA Repair in C holangiocarcinoma Cells by a Nitric Oxide-Dependent Mechanism. Ca



ncer Res. 60: 184-190.

- D. Arias-Salvatierra, Silbergeld E.K., Acosta-Saavedra L.C., and Calde ron-Aranda E.S. (2011) Role of Nitric Oxide Produced by Inos throug h Nf-Kb Pathway in Migration of Cerebellar Granule Neurons Induce d by Lipopolysaccharide. *Cell Signal.* 23: 425-435.
- W. Ratajczak-Wrona, Jablonska E., Garley M., Jablonski J., Radziwon P., and Iwaniuk A. (2013) Role of Ap-1 Family Proteins in Regulati on of Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (Inos) in Human Neutrophils. J Immunotoxicol. 10: 32-39.
- E. Mathes, O'Dea E.L., Hoffmann A., and Ghosh G. (2008) Nf-Kappa
 b Dictates the Degradation Pathway of Ikappabalpha. *Embo j.* 27: 135
 7-1367.
- Z. Wu, Nicoll M., and Ingham R.J. (2021) Ap-1 Family Transcription Factors: A Diverse Family of Proteins That Regulate Varied Cellular Activities in Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma and Alk+Alcl. *Exp Hema* tol Oncol. 10: 4.
- U. Moens, Kostenko S., and Sveinbjørnsson B. (2013) The Role of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase-Activated Protein Kinases (Mapkapk s) in Inflammation. *Genes (Basel)*. 4: 101-133.
- T. Bergsbaken, Fink S.L., and Cookson B.T. (2009) Pyroptosis: Host Cell Death and Inflammation. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 7: 99-109.



- S.L. Fink and Cookson B.T. (2005) Apoptosis, Pyroptosis, and Necros is: Mechanistic Description of Dead and Dying Eukaryotic Cells. *Infe ct Immun.* 73: 1907-1916.
- R.C. Coll, Schroder K., and Pelegrín P. (2022) Nlrp3 and Pyroptosis Blockers for Treating Inflammatory Diseases. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 4 3: 653-668.
- M. Boll, Weber L.W., Becker E., and Stampfl A. (2001) Mechanism of Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Hepatotoxicity. Hepatocellular Damage by Reactive Carbon Tetrachloride Metabolites. *Z Naturforsch C J Bi* osci. 56: 649-659.
- 27. K. Toriumi, Horikoshi Y., Yoshiyuki Osamura R., Yamamoto Y., Naka mura N., and Takekoshi S. (2013) Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Hepat ic Injury through Formation of Oxidized Diacylglycerol and Activatio n of the Pkc/Nf-Kb Pathway. *Lab Invest.* 93: 218-229.
- 28. Y. Chen, Que R., Lin L., Shen Y., Liu J., and Li Y. (2020) Inhibitio n of Oxidative Stress and Nlrp3 Inflammasome by Saikosaponin-D Al leviates Acute Liver Injury in Carbon Tetrachloride-Induced Hepatitis i n Mice. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol.* 34: 2058738420950593.
- E.E. Vargas-Pozada, Ramos-Tovar E., Rodriguez-Callejas J.D., Cardoso
 -Lezama I., Galindo-Gómez S., Gil-Becerril K., Vásquez-Garzón V.R.,
 Arellanes-Robledo J., Tsutsumi V., Villa-Treviño S., and Muriel P. (2)



022) Activation of the Nlrp3 Inflammasome by Ccl(4) Exacerbates He patopathogenic Diet-Induced Experimental Nash. *Ann Hepatol.* 28: 100 780.

- Y.C. Lu, Yeh W.C., and Ohashi P.S. (2008) Lps/Tlr4 Signal Transduct ion Pathway. *Cytokine*. 42: 145-151.
- 31. T. Lawrence (2009) The Nuclear Factor Nf-Kappab Pathway in Infla mmation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 1: a001651.
- 32. F. Simon and Fernández R. (2009) Early Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Reactive Oxygen Species Production Evokes Necrotic Cell Death in Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells. J Hypertens. 27: 1202-1216.
- 33. S. Seeland, Kettiger H., Murphy M., Treiber A., Giller J., Kiss A., S ube R., Krähenbühl S., Hafner M., and Huwyler J. (2015) Atp-Induce d Cellular Stress and Mitochondrial Toxicity in Cells Expressing Purin ergic P2x7 Receptor. *Pharmacol Res Perspect*. 3: e00123.
- S. Carta, Penco F., Lavieri R., Martini A., Dinarello C.A., Gattorno M., and Rubartelli A. (2015) Cell Stress Increases Atp Release in Nlr p3 Inflammasome-Mediated Autoinflammatory Diseases, Resulting in Cytokine Imbalance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 112: 2835-2840.
- 35. Q.B. Zha, Wei H.X., Li C.G., Liang Y.D., Xu L.H., Bai W.J., Pan H., He X.H., and Ouyang D.Y. (2016) Atp-Induced Inflammasome Activ ation and Pyroptosis Is Regulated by Amp-Activated Protein Kinase i



n Macrophages. Front Immunol. 7: 597.

- 36. W.T. He, Wan H., Hu L., Chen P., Wang X., Huang Z., Yang Z.H., Zhong C.Q., and Han J. (2015) Gasdermin D Is an Executor of Pyro ptosis and Required for Interleukin-1β Secretion. *Cell Res.* 25: 1285-1 298.
- N. Kelley, Jeltema D., Duan Y., and He Y. (2019) The Nlrp3 Inflam masome: An Overview of Mechanisms of Activation and Regulation. *Int J Mol Sci.* 20.
- 38. Q. Xie, Shen W.W., Zhong J., Huang C., Zhang L., and Li J. (2014) Lipopolysaccharide/Adenosine Triphosphate Induces II□1β and II-18 Secretion through the Nlrp3 Inflammasome in Raw264.7 Murine Macr ophage Cells. Int J Mol Med. 34: 341-349.
- D. Scholten, Trebicka J., Liedtke C., and Weiskirchen R. (2015) The Carbon Tetrachloride Model in Mice. *Lab Anim.* 49: 4-11.
- T. Uehara, Pogribny I.P., and Rusyn I. (2014) The Den and Ccl4 -In duced Mouse Model of Fibrosis and Inflammation-Associated Hepatoc ellular Carcinoma. *Curr Protoc Pharmacol.* 66: 14.30.11-10.